1988

Michael J. Hoth, Jeffrey R. Hoth, dba Hoth Brothers, a Utah partnership v. Karl R. White and Amy H. White, husband and wife; Karl R. White and Amy H. White, husband and wife v. Dean R. Morgan, Charles R. Team, Dean R. Morgan dba Polar Bear Homes, and Charles R. Tean dba Team Realty : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION OF COURT

The judgment from which this appeal is taken was signed and filed by the Court on April 13, 1988. The notice of appeal was filed on May 12, 1988. A cross-appeal was subsequently filed by Third-Party Plaintiffs/Respondents in this matter, and, on its own motion, this Court issued an order of consolidation on June 28, 1988, consolidating these appeals for consideration and briefing under Case No. 880308-CA.

This Court has jurisdiction over the appeal in this matter by virtue of the Constitution of Utah, Article VIII, Section 1 et seq. (specifically Section 5), Section 78-2(a)-3(2)(c) Utah Code Annotated (1953 as amended), and Rules 3 and 4 of the Rules of the Utah Court of Appeals.

NATURE OF PROCEEDINGS

In April of 1987, Third-Party Plaintiffs in this matter (hereinafter "Whites"), as the owner of certain property in Hyde Park, Utah, filed suit in the First Judicial District Court for the State of Utah, Cache County, to challenge the validity and amount of a mechanic's lien filed against such property by the Plaintiffs in this matter (hereinafter referred to as "Hoths"). Shortly after filing the District Court proceeding, however, Whites dismissed their attorney of record therein, and the case was subsequently dismissed for lack of service of process. In September of 1987, Hoths filed this action in Circuit Court to foreclose their mechanic's lien, as subcontractors for the construction of a residence upon the property owned by the Whites in Hyde Park, Utah. On September 25, 1987, Whites filed an answer in Circuit Court, stating a counterclaim against Hoths for substandard work, and disputing the amount and character of items identified by Hoths in their lien as "extras" not within the scope of the original subcontract. In addition to their counterclaim, Whites also filed a third-party complaint on September 25, 1987, whereby they seek indemnity

from Third-Party Defendant Dean R. Morgan (hereinafter "Morgan") as the general contractor for the construction of their residence, and against Third-Party Defendant Charles R. Teames (hereinafter "Teames") as a real estate agent/broker involved in the sale of the constructed residence, and as the alleged partner of Morgan in this construction project.

On October 7 and October 27, 1987, Third-Party Defendants Teames and Morgan, respectively, were served with summons and complaint in this action, and on November 18, 1987, an answer to the third-party complaint was filed on their behalf. On November 20, 1987, counsel for Whites filed a notice of readiness, indicating therein that the expected time for trial would be one day. On November 25, 1987, trial was set in Circuit Court for a non-jury trial on March 3, 1988. On March 3, 4, 7 and 9, 1988, this matter was tried before the Honorable Ted S. Perry in Circuit Court.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Whether the trial court committed error in concluding that Morgan and Teames were partners, finding that they had "entered into a joint venture in which the profits would be shared and where each would be subject to any losses that may be incurred." Such conclusion appears to be contrary to and not supported by the evidence produced at trial.

2. Whether the trial court committed error in holding the Appellants herein responsible for the payment of the balance of the Hoths' original subcontract, given the fact that the amount thereof is acknowledged as being reasonable and the Whites' obtained the full benefit thereof, and that there were several items which were completed at the expense of the Whites, which items were still in controversy and were ultimately determined by the Court to be appropriate offsets in Whites' favor, and specifically in light of the fact that the evidence shows that Morgan did not have sufficient funds provided to him by the Whites to satisfy all of the remaining construction cost obligations.

3. Whether the trial court committed error by failing to find that the Appellants herein, to the extent of their actual liability for the construction contract obligations, were discharged by the interference of the Whites in the construction project itself, and Whites' significant and continuing assumption of control thereof.

4. Whether the trial court committed error by failing to find that the Appellants herein, to the extent of their respective liability on the construction contract, were discharged by the inadequacy of the plans and specifications provided for the construction of this residence by the Whites.

5. Whether the trial court committed error in finding that amounts were paid to Morgan and to Teames in January of

1987 which should have been paid by them to Hoths, avoiding the subsequent filing of a lien by Hoths and the necessity of any lawsuit; and, whether the trial court committed error by determining that such a failure to pay amounts over to Hoths constituted a breach of the contract by Appellants.

6. Whether the trial court committed error by making no findings whatsoever, or conclusions, with respect to the counterclaim of Appellants herein against Whites, by way of damages, costs or fees.

7. Whether the trial court committed error, given the reasonable and anticipated duration of this trial as noticed by Whites, by failing to allow Appellants herein recovery of their attorneys' fees in an amount which would be reasonable for a 4-day trial.

8. Whether the court abused its discretion, upon learning of Third-Party Defendants' intention to appeal its decision, by countermanding its own directions to counsel, rejecting Plaintiffs' and Defendants' proposed findings of fact and conclusions of law and judgment, filed pursuant to Rule 2.9 Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, and substituting its own findings and conclusions in a form substantially more prejudicial to the Third-Party Defendants and inconsistent with its own prior conclusions and those proposed by counsel pursuant to its order.

DETERMINATIVE STATUTES

The interpretation of the following general partnership statutes may be determinative with respect to the issue concerning the liability of Charles R. Teames as a partner with the general contractor, Dean R. Morgan, in this matter, and for that reason the following statutes are set out verbatim in the addendum to this brief: Utah Code Annotated, Sections 48-1-3 ("Partnership" defined), 48-1-3.1 ("Joint Venture" defined), and 48-1-4 ("Rules for Determining the Existence of a Partnership").

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

NATURE OF THE CASE

This is a civil action to foreclose a mechanic's lien filed by a framing subcontractor for the recovery of the unpaid balance of his framing subcontract, together with the value of additional work or "extras" performed by him. The owner of the property has counterclaimed against the subcontractor alleging that the work performed by the subcontractor was substandard, and disputing the character and value of the additional services which the subcontractor claims to be "extras". The owner has also filed a third-party complaint for indemnity against the general contractor and the agent/broker, and the general contractor has counterclaimed against the owner for the recovery of his out-of-pocket losses which he suffered by paying materialmen and laborers more than he had received from the owner in

progress payments, since the owner removed all financial controls from the general contractor and allegedly assumed the responsibilities of the general contractor during the course of construction.

COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS

As indicated hereinabove, this matter came on for trial before the Honorable Ted S. Perry in Circuit Court on March 3, 4, 7 and 9, 1988. On the last day of trial, upon the conclusion of closing arguments, the court announced its ruling and instructed the attorneys for Plaintiffs and for Defendants to prepare appropriate findings of fact, conclusions of law, and judgment. Within the following two weeks, counsel for Third-Party Defendants contacted the court to obtain an estimate of the cost of the transcript of proceedings in order to appeal the decision, and requested the court to meet briefly with attorneys for each of the parties in order to clarify its findings with respect to Third-Party Defendant Charles R. Teames.

On March 23, 1988, and March 29, 1988, proposed findings of fact, conclusions of law, and a judgment were filed with the court by Plaintiffs' and Defendants' counsel, respectively, pursuant to the court's order. On March 29, 1988, however, the court, on its own motion, requested that all three attorneys appear before the court, whereupon the court (without receiving anything or hearing comments or questions from counsel) rejected the proposed findings of

fact and conclusions of law submitted by counsel, and instead issued to counsel its own such documents.

On March 29, 1988, counsel for Plaintiff submitted a letter to the court drawing the court's attention to an "apparent typographical error" in the court's findings and conclusions with respect to the Third-Party Defendants. It appeared that the court's own findings had duplicated the award of attorneys' fees clearly announced by the court on the last day of trial, and the written findings by the court were therefore \$1,000 over-stated. Similarly, on April 4, 1988, counsel for Third-Party Defendants filed objections to the findings of fact and conclusions of law prepared by the court, also noting the \$1,000 duplication as an "apparent typographical error".

On April 5, 1988, the court issued a memorandum decision indicating that the extra \$1,000 for attorney fees as set forth in the court's findings of fact and conclusions of law did not represent a typographical error, and judgment would be entered by the court on April 13, 1988, accordingly. On April 13, 1988, Plaintiffs' revised proposed judgment, consistent with the court's written findings and conclusions, was signed by the court with respect to both the judgment on the complaint and the judgment for Defendants on their third-party complaint. Said judgment bears a mailing certificate dated March 31, 1988.

On May 12, 1988, Third-Party Defendants filed their notice of appeal; and, on May 31, 1988, Third-Party Plaintiffs/Respondents filed a cross-appeal. On its own motion, and pursuant to an order of consolidation, this Court consolidated these appeals under Case No. 880308-CA on June 28, 1988.

DISPOSITION AT TRIAL COURT

The trial court awarded judgment to the Hoths in the amount of \$2,500, which was the unpaid balance of the original \$6,000 framing subcontract. Of the \$1,410 in "extras" claimed by the Hoths in their complaint, the court entered judgment for Hoths in the amount of \$1,009; however, although the court found that the Hoths had substantially completed their subcontract, the court allowed an offset against the awarded "extras", which offset was in the amount of \$516 and was for the cost to complete a portion of the subcontract not properly completed by Hoths. Plaintiffs were thus awarded a net judgment of \$2,993 against Defendants, plus attorneys' fees in the amount of \$1,000, plus costs. In announcing its ruling at the conclusion of trial, the court erroneously computed judgment for the Hoths for "extras" as a total of 64 hours at \$15 per hour, when in fact the total was 63 hours, which accounts for the discrepancy between the record (which shows such judgment at \$3,008, rather than \$2,993) and the court's written findings.

The court then concluded that since Morgan had paid himself \$3,007 in January, 1987, when Hoths were to be paid, and since Morgan had a duty to keep subcontractors from filing liens, and further since no lien would have been filed and this action would have been unnecessary if Morgan had paid the Hoths, judgment against Third-Party Defendants would be entered for the amount of \$3,008, plus attorneys' fees of \$1,000, plus costs. The court's later written findings concluded, however (at paragraph 13, Findings of Fact), that the owners had paid the sum of \$3,000 to Dean Morgan in January, 1987, and the additional sum of \$2,000 had been paid by Dean Morgan to Third-Party Defendant Charles Teames; and, that neither Morgan nor Teames were entitled to any money under the contract until they had first satisfied the costs of construction of the house; and, that the failure of Morgan and Teames to pay the Hoths was a breach of "the contract".

Although the court's rulings at the conclusion of trial spoke of duties owed by Morgan, the court's written Findings of Fact, paragraph 1, also concluded that "for the purpose of the contract with the Defendants, the said Third-Party Defendants had entered into a joint venture in which the profits would be shared and where each would be subject to any losses that may be incurred." The court further found in its written Findings of Fact, paragraph 3, that Morgan entered into the "Earnest Money Sales Agreement for

Residential Construction" with the Whites "for and in behalf of both Third-Party Defendants".

STATEMENT OF FACTS

1. On or about August 26, 1986, a written "Earnest Money Sales Agreement for Residential Construction" was entered into for the construction of the residence of the Third-Party Plaintiffs (which may be referred to hereinafter as "Whites" or "Owners"). (Defendant's Exhibit 7.) This contract was signed by Owners as "Buyer" and by Third-Party Defendant Morgan as "Contractor" with Morgan signing on behalf of the business Polar Bear Homes, an assumed business name used in the State of Utah by Morgan. (Findings of Fact, paragraph 1.) Third-Party Defendant Teames did not sign this agreement, but his realty firm "Team Realty" (a dba registered with the State of Utah by Third-Party Defendant Charles R. Teames) was acknowledged therein as an "Agent/Broker company". (Findings of Fact, paragraph 1; Transcript, page 841, lines 2-10.) Although Whites acknowledge that Teames or Team Realty was acting as an "agent/broker" for Morgan in this transaction, they further allege that Teames is a partner of Morgan. (Third-Party Complaint, paragraph 3.)

2. Construction of the residence was to have been according to plans and specifications provided by the Whites. (Defendants' Exhibit 7; Findings of Fact, paragraph 1; Transcript, page 14, line 24-line 11, page 15.)

3. Soon after the execution of the construction contract, Morgan subcontracted with Hoths, Plaintiffs in this matter, to do the framing of the home at a price of \$6,000, a price acknowledged as being the agreed upon subcontract price, and further acknowledged as being a reasonable price according to the original plans and specifications. (Findings of Fact, paragraph 4; Transcript, page 449, lines 4-12; page 944, lines 6-10.)

4. Pursuant to the subcontract with Hoths, Morgan paid Hoths \$3,500, leaving a balance to be paid to Hoths thereunder of \$2,500. (Findings of Fact, paragraph 6; Transcript, page 944, lines 6-10; Defendants' Exhibits 11, 12 and 13.)

5. After substantially completing the framing subcontract, Hoths filed a lien on March 16, 1987, claiming the \$2,500 balance on the framing subcontract, and \$1,410 for extra work or material supplied by them beyond the scope of the initial subcontract. (Findings of Fact, paragraph 5; Plaintiff's Exhibit 10; Plaintiff's Exhibit 11.) Hoths testified at trial that almost all of the changes or requests for additional work from them were made directly by the Whites, and neither Morgan nor Teames were involved in those extra work agreements. (Transcript, page 213, line 18-line 1, page 214; page 197, line 24-line 21, page 199.) The trial court found 17 items of extra labor for which it awarded judgment to Hoths against Whites, and of those, 14

were specifically noted by the court to have been at the request of Whites. (Findings of Fact, paragraph 7(b), (c), (d), (f), (g), (h), (j), (m), (n), (p), (q), (r).) Four items of extra labor were found by the court to have been due to a deficiency in plans or design. (Findings of Fact, paragraph 7(a), (e), (g), (h).) One item of extra work was found by the court to have not been required under the original subcontract, but it reflected necessary work done at the request of Morgan for the benefit of Whites. (Findings of Fact, paragraph 7(1).) One additional extra item was found by the court to have been approved by the owners and ordered for them by Morgan (Findings of Fact, paragraph 7(i)).

6. Although Defendant Karl White had informed certain creditors that Morgan was overpaid on the construction contract, having received \$60,000 from Whites (Third-Party Defendants' Exhibit 7; Transcript, page 801, line 17-line 16, page 807), Karl White testified at trial that in fact Whites had only paid Morgan \$32,000. Of that amount, \$2,000 was a down payment and there were two subsequent payments of \$15,000 each as progress payments prior to the end of 1986. (Transcript, page 771, lines 5-12; page 779, lines 17-20; page 716, lines 5-7.)

7. Whites financed the construction of the project without involving a conventional lending institution, initially providing funds to Morgan for payment of

construction costs. (Defendants' Exhibit 7, paragraph 6(a); Transcript, page 340, line 11-line 13, page 341; page 390, lines 9-21; page 697, lines 10-25.) In early January of 1987, when Morgan approached Whites for additional funds to pay construction costs, Whites refused to provide Morgan any further funds, and requested an accounting from Morgan. (Transcript, page 793, lines 1-16; page 340, line 11-line 13, page 341.)

8. At trial, the parties acknowledged that Morgan had provided Whites with four separate accountings or statements identifying the payments made to date by Morgan, and on the first two of those accountings, Morgan also identified outstanding construction bills that needed to be paid. Those accountings were provided to Whites on or about January 6, April 10, June 11, and November 18 of 1987. (Defendant's Exhibits 11, 12 and 13; Transcript, page 695, lines 15-25; page 698, lines 16-18; page 699, lines 17-20; page 700, lines 18-22; page 701, lines 7-12; and page 883, line 19-line 19, page 893.)

9. At trial the parties acknowledged that by January of 1987, Whites had begun paying the construction bills directly, and refused to provide Morgan with any further funds. (Transcript, page 802, lines 9-16; page 340, line 11-line 13, page 341; page 875, line 14; page 876, line 15.)

10. On the last day of trial, Morgan took the stand in his case in chief and thoroughly reviewed and explained the

accountings which he provided to Whites in January, April and June of 1987. In this testimony, he testified that on each of those occasions there were construction bills which exceeded the amount of the total funds provided to him by Whites, and that as he continued to make payments toward construction costs, Dean Morgan had \$3,007.44 of undisbursed funds remaining available to pay the much larger bills in January; \$850.70 remained undisbursed in April; and, by June of 1987, Morgan had paid construction costs which exceeded the funds Whites had provided him for such purpose by the amount of \$1,227.94. (Transcript, page 883, line 19-line 19, page 893.)

11. Included within the expenditures shown in the January, April and June, 1987 accountings from Morgan to Whites was a \$2,000 payment by Morgan to Teames. (Defendants' Exhibits 11, 12 and 13.) At trial, Defendant Karl White noted that such payment was not shown in the November, 1987 accounting (Transcript, page 702, lines 5-7), and Morgan explained that the \$2,000 was an advance against the commission on this sale (which, in the Transcript at page 856, lines 11-25, Teames testified was the standard 6 percent of the sale price of the home). However, Morgan further testified that because he had insufficient funds to pay construction costs and was unable to finish the project, Team Realty refunded the \$2,000 advance and Morgan used it to pay construction costs. Even after such refund, Morgan

still had paid from his own funds \$1,227.94 more in construction bills than he had received, leaving both Morgan and Teames without any compensation at all from the project. (Transcript, page 699, lines 17-20; page 700, lines 18-20; page 890, line 9-line 23, page 891; page 891, line 24-line 19, page 893.)

12. Third-Party Plaintiff Karl White's review of the Morgan accountings is found in the transcript beginning at line 13, page 796, and continuing through line 12 of page 801. In reviewing that accounting, Karl White testified that he understood that Morgan had \$3,000 left, that had not been paid out by Morgan for construction expenses in early January of 1987. (Transcript, page 799, lines 13-16.) Mr. White further testified that if the subsequent payments were actually made by Morgan as shown in Morgan's April and June accountings, then Morgan has in fact expended more money in construction costs than was paid to him by Whites. (Transcript, page 801, lines 4-12.)

13. Having concluded at trial that Morgan paid himself \$3,007 in January when Hoths were to be paid, and had that amount instead been paid to Hoths, the lien and this lawsuit would have been avoided (Transcript, page 994, lines 7-22), the court found in its written Findings of Fact, paragraph 13, as follows:

That the owners paid the sum of \$3,000 to Dean Morgan in January, 1987, and the additional sum of \$2,000 which Dean Morgan paid to Third-Party Defendant

Charles Team. That had said sums been paid to the Plaintiffs, no lien would have been filed and this action would have been unnecessary. That neither Dean Morgan and Charles Team were entitled to any money under the contract until they had first satisfied the costs of construction of the house. That the failure of Dean Morgan and Charles Team to pay the Plaintiffs was a breach of the contract.

14. In its written Findings of Fact, paragraph 1, the trial court concluded that, for the purposes of the contract with the Whites, Teames and Morgan had entered into a joint venture in which the profits would be shared and where each would be subject to any losses that may be incurred. The court further found, in its Findings of Fact, paragraph 3, that Morgan entered into the written "Earnest Money Sales Agreement for Residential Construction" for and in behalf of both Third-Party Defendants.

15. With respect to his involvement in this transaction, Teames testified that he is a real estate broker by profession, and that he is the principal broker of Team Realty. (Transcript, page 838, lines 6-17.) He further testified that his relationship with Morgan is one of a real estate broker contracted to sell homes built by the contractor for a standard market rate commission, and that he has no other business relationship with Morgan or with Polar Bear Homes. (Transcript, page 839.) Teames explained that Team Realty is his sole proprietorship, in which he employs other associates who are engaged with him

in the general sale of real estate, involving many other transactions than those in relation to Dean Morgan or Polar Bear Homes. (Transcript, page 841.) Teames testified that he has never derived "profits" from the sale of homes built by Morgan or Polar Bear Homes, and that he has been paid standard commissions with respect thereto. (Transcript, page 840, line 24-line 1, page 841.) Teames specifically denied having a proprietary interest of any kind in common with Mr. Morgan or Polar Bear Homes (Transcript, page 841, lines 11-13), and he further denied that he ever made any representations whatsoever to Karl or Amy White of a partnership relationship existing between himself and Morgan or Polar Bear Homes. (Transcript, page 843, line 7.) The earnest money deposit of \$100 paid by Whites upon execution of the written construction contract was payable to and deposited with Team Realty as the "Agent/Broker". (Defendants' Exhibit 7; and Check No. 1428 shown on Third-Party Defendants' Exhibit 10.)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

1. Partnership Issue. The evidence and testimony at trial clearly reflects activities and representations which characterize a broker/client relationship, rather than the existence of a co-ownership between these individuals with the attendant expectation that all profits and losses would be shared. The conclusion by the trial court that a joint venture relationship existed between Teames and Morgan in

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