1988

Michael J. Hoth, Jeffrey R. Hoth, dba Hoth
Brothers, a Utah partnership v. Karl R. White and
Amy H. White, husband and wife : Brief of
Respondent

Utah Court of Appeals

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.law.byu.edu/byu_ca1



Part of the [Law Commons](#)

Original Brief Submitted to the Utah Court of Appeals; digitized by the Howard W. Hunter Law Library, J. Reuben Clark Law School, Brigham Young University, Provo, Utah; machine-generated OCR, may contain errors.

Kevin E. Kane; Daines & Kane; Attorney for Third-Party Respondents.

Dale G. Siler; Hillyard, Anderson & Olsen; Attorney for Third-Party Appellants.

Recommended Citation

Brief of Respondent, *Hoth v. White*, No. 880308 (Utah Court of Appeals, 1988).

https://digitalcommons.law.byu.edu/byu_ca1/1094

This Brief of Respondent is brought to you for free and open access by BYU Law Digital Commons. It has been accepted for inclusion in Utah Court of Appeals Briefs by an authorized administrator of BYU Law Digital Commons. Policies regarding these Utah briefs are available at

http://digitalcommons.law.byu.edu/utah_court_briefs/policies.html. Please contact the Repository Manager at hunterlawlibrary@byu.edu with questions or feedback.

4
UMENT
!

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE STATE OF UTAH

KEY NO. ~~88-308-CA~~

MICHAEL J. HOTH, JEFFREY R. *
HOTH, dba HOTH BROTHERS, a *
Utah partnership, *
Plaintiffs, *

vs. *

KARL R. WHITE and AMY H. *
WHITE, husband and wife, *
Defendants. *

APPENDIX TO

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT/
CROSS-APPELLANT

KARL R. WHITE and AMY H. *
WHITE, husband and wife, *
Third Party Plaintiffs *
and Respondents, *

Case No. 880308-CA

vs. *

Priority No. 14(b)

DEAN R. MORGAN, CHARLES R. *
TEAMS, DEAN R. MORGAN dba *
POLAR BEAR HOMES, and CHARLES *
R. TEAM dba TEAM REALTY, *
Third Party Defendants *
and Appellants. *

APPENDIX TO
BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

APPEAL FROM A FINAL JUDGMENT BY THE HONORABLE TED S. PERRY,
FIRST CIRCUIT COURT OF THE STATE OF UTAH, LOGAN CITY DEPARTMENT
WHICH COURT WAS KNOWN AT THE TIME OF THE ENTRY SAID JUDGMENT AS
THE SECOND CIRCUIT COURT OF THE STATE OF UTAH IN AND FOR COUNTY
OF CACHE, LOGAN CITY DEPARTMENT

DALE G. SILER (USB #2956)
HILLYARD, ANDERSON & OLSEN
Attorney for Third Party
Defendant/Appellants
175 East First North
Logan, Utah 84321

KEVIN E. KANE (USB #3939)
DAINES & KANE
Attorney for Third Party
Plaintiffs/Respondants
108 North Main, Suite 200
Logan, Utah 84321

Tab A

APPENDIX "A"

Rule 52. Findings by the court.

(a) **Effect.** In all actions tried upon the facts without a jury or with an advisory jury, the court shall find the facts specially and state separately its conclusions of law thereon, and judgment shall be entered pursuant to Rule 58A; in granting or refusing interlocutory injunctions the court shall similarly set forth the findings of fact and conclusions of law which constitute the grounds of its action. Requests for findings are not necessary for purposes of review. Findings of fact, whether based on oral or documentary evidence, shall not be set aside unless clearly erroneous, and due regard shall be given to the opportunity of the trial court to judge the credibility of the witnesses. The findings of a master, to the extent that the court adopts them, shall be considered as the findings of the court. It will be sufficient if the findings of fact and conclusions of law are stated orally and recorded in open court following the close of the evidence or appear in an opinion or memorandum of decision filed by the court. The trial court need not enter findings of fact and conclusions of law in rulings on motions, except as provided in Rule 41(b). The court shall, however, issue a brief written statement of the ground for its decision on all motions granted under Rules 12(b), 50(a) and (b), 56, and 59 when the motion is based on more than one ground.

(b) **Amendment.** Upon motion of a party made not later than 10 days after entry of judgment the court may amend its findings or make additional findings and may amend the judgment accordingly. The motion may be made with a motion for a new trial pursuant to Rule 59. When findings of fact are made in actions tried by the court without a jury, the question of the sufficiency of the evidence to support the findings may thereafter be raised whether or not the party raising the question has made in the district court an objection to such findings or has made either a motion to amend them, a motion for judgment, or a motion for a new trial.

(c) **Waiver of findings of fact and conclusions of law.** Except in actions for divorce, findings of fact and conclusions of law may be waived by the parties to an issue of fact:

- (1) by default or by failing to appear at the trial;
- (2) by consent in writing, filed in the cause;
- (3) by oral consent in open court, entered in the minutes.

(Amended, effective Jan. 1, 1987.)

APPENDIX "A"

(cont.)

48-1-13. Partner by estoppel. (1) When a person by words spoken or written or by conduct represents himself, or consents to another's representing him, to any one as a partner, in an existing partnership or with one or more persons not actual partners, he is liable to any such person to whom such representation has been made who has on the faith of such representation given credit to the actual or apparent partnership, and, if he has made such representation or consented to its being made in a public manner, he is liable to such person, whether the representation has or has not been made or communicated to such person so giving credit by, or with the knowledge of, the apparent partner making the representation or consenting to its being made.

(a) When a partnership liability results, he is liable as if he were an actual member of the partnership.

(b) When no partnership liability results, he is liable jointly with the other persons, if any, so consenting to the contract or representation as to incur liability; otherwise, separately.

(2) When a person has been thus represented to be a partner in an existing partnership, or with one or more persons not actual partners, he is an agent of the persons consenting to such representation to bind them to the same extent and in the same manner as though he were a partner in fact, with respect to persons who rely upon the representation. Where all the members of an existing partnership consent to the representation, a partnership act or obligation results; but in all other cases it is the joint act or obligation of the person acting and the persons consenting to the representation.

Tab B

FINDINGS OF FACT

1. The Court finds that the Plaintiffs are partners and that the Plaintiff Michael J. Hoth is a licensed contractor under the laws of the State of Utah. The defendants are owners of the property described in paragraph 2 of the Plaintiff's complaint and are husband and wife. The Third Party Defendants are individuals doing business under their trade names as set forth in the caption of these findings, but that for the purpose of the contract with the defendants, the said third party defendants had entered into a joint venture in which the profits would be shared and where each would be subject to any losses that may be incurred.

2. The Court finds that the cause of action arose in Cache County where the defendants reside and the amount claimed is less than \$10,000.

3. The Court finds the Defendants and Third Party Defendant, Dean Morgan, for and in behalf of both Third Party Defendants, entered into a written contract on or about August 26, 1986 (see defendants' exhibit #7 and #6 and plaintiffs' exhibits 1 through 8), for the construction of a house on defendants' property described in paragraph 2 of plaintiffs' complaint in accordance with the plans and specifications.

4. The Court finds that the Plaintiffs and Third Party Defendant Dean Morgan entered into a subcontract for the framing of said house and some other miscellaneous items in the amount of \$6000. That the sum of \$6000 was a reasonable price for said subcontract work under the original plans and specifications.

5. The Court finds that the Plaintiffs substantially completed the work required by their subcontract.

6. The Court finds that the Third Party Defendant paid the sum of \$3500 to the Plaintiffs and that the balance owing on the basic subcontract is \$2500.00.

7. The Court finds that the following additional work was ordered by the defendants as owners or by the third party defendants as contractors and the plaintiffs performed said work and are entitled to reasonable compensation for the same:

a. Changing basement stairs due to a design error in location of plumbers pipes a total of 10 hours of labor.

b. Remodel of master showerlid at the request of the owners total of 4 hours.

c. Moving the bearing wall in the kitchen and dining room request of the owners a total of two hours of labor.

d. Changing the two back doors to a different size at the request of the owners for a total of 4 hours.

e. Changing the reinforcing trusses which were originally built to the plans but which did not meet the building inspector's requirements for a total of 2 hours of labor.

f. Putting a doorway under the stairs not included on the plans at the request of the owner a total of 1 hour of labor.

g. Relocating the bedroom window in the northeast bedroom due to a defect in the plans at the request of the owner for a total of 1 hour.

h. Extra framing for the Octagon tower due to lack of detail in the plans at the request of the owner for a total of 6 hours.

i. Extra door in the tower approved by the owners and ordered by the third party defendant Dean Morgan for a total of 3 hours.

j. Remodeling the front porch as requested by the owners and changing the plans for a total of 8 hours of labor.

k. Cost of one case of nails used in installing the extras for a total of \$64.00.

l. Placing tar paper on the roof. Not required under original subcontract done at the request of the third party defendant Dean Morgan for the benefit of the owners for a total of 10 hours.

m. Additional work on the tower requested by the owner for a total of 2 hours of labor.

n. Remodel of dining room window to match the change in plans for the octagon tower at the request of the owners for a total of 3 hours of labor.

o. Additional work on the upstairs bathroom window in the Northeast for a total of 1 hour.

p. Caulking the second floor plywood which was an extra approved by the owners for a total labor of 2 hours.

q. Changing the upstairs bath room doors at the request of the owners for a total of 2 hours.

r. Installing a laundry room under the stairs not on original plans at the request of the owner for a total of 2 hours.

8. That a reasonable cost for the labor for the extras was \$15 per hour for a total of 63 hours or \$945 plus \$64 for the extra nails equals a total for the extras of \$1009 for which the plaintiffs are entitled to compensation.

9. That the plaintiffs failed to complete a portion of their subcontract and the owners were required to obtain the labor from other sources as follows:

a. For work done by Robert Smith and Pat Christensen: a total of 42½ hours of labor at an hourly rate of \$10.00 per hour for a total cost of work not performed by the plaintiff but which was performed by Robert Smith and Pat Christensen in the amount of \$425.00.

b. For work done by Robert Reiner having a reasonable value of \$91.

c. That other work which the owners contracted to be performed was not the responsibility of the plaintiffs and the owners are not entitled to a set off therefor.

10. That there is owing to the plaintiffs for work performed the sum of \$6000 plus \$1009 for extras less \$516 for work not performed, less \$3500 paid or the net sum of \$2993.00.

11. That the plaintiffs hired an attorney to represent them in filing a mechanics lien and in bringing this action to foreclose the lien. That a reasonable attorneys fee for the plaintiffs including costs of filing the mechanics lien is \$1000.

12. That the plaintiffs timely filed a mechanics lien in the office of the Cache County Recorder. That there were no inaccuracies in the mechanics lien as understood at the time of filing by the plaintiffs.

13. That the owners paid the sum of \$3000 to Dean Morgan in January 1987 and the additional sum of \$2000 which Dean Morgan paid to third party defendant Charles Team. That had said sums been paid to the plaintiffs, no lien would have been filed and this action would have been unnecessary. That neither Dean Morgan and Charles Team were entitled to any money under the contract until they had first satisfied the costs of construction of the house. That the failure of Dean Morgan and Charles Team to pay the plaintiffs was a breach of the contract.

14. That the contract between the defendants and the third party defendants provided for the award of attorneys fees in the event of a breach. That a reasonable attorneys fee for bringing this action is \$1000.

From the foregoing findings of fact the court concludes:

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW.

1. Plaintiff is entitled to recover from the defendants the sum of \$2993.00, plus the sum of \$1000 attorneys fees plus plaintiffs' costs.


2. That in the event the defendants fail to pay said sum the plaintiffs may proceed and foreclose the mechanic's lien in a matter provided by law.

3. That the third party plaintiffs (the defendants) are

to recover from the third party defendants and each of them
the sum of \$3993 plus costs assessed in favor of the plaintiffs
plus attorneys fees in the amount of \$1000 plus the costs of
the third party ^{PLAINTIFFS} ~~defendants~~ in bringing this action.

Let judgment be entered accordingly.